IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NUMBER: 80,679

Santos M. Garcia,

Petitioner,

v.

Carmar Structural, Inc./FEISCO

Respondents

SID J. WHITE DEC 14 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

# PETITIONERS INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Jerold Feuer Attorney for Petitioner 402 N. E. 36 Street Miami, Florida 33137–3913 (305) 573–2282 Florida Bar Number 198943

Marvin J. Kristal, Esquire 46 S.W. First Street Third Floor Miami, Florida 33130 & Fletcher N. Baldwin, Esquire University of Florida College of Law 2500 S.W. Second Avenue Gainesville, Florida 32611

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

Adams v. Miami Beach Hotel Association,77 So.2d 465 (Fla.1955)25

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case arose from an appeal from an Order of the Honorable Judith S. Nelson, Judge of Compensation Claims, entered on July 17, 1991. Respondents, Appellees below, are Carmar Structural, Inc., the Employer below, and FEISCO, the Self–Insurance Fund below, in this Workers' Compensation matter. Petitioner, Appellant below, is Santos M. Garcia, the Claimant below. The parties will be referred to by their names, their positions before this Honorable Court or by their positions below before the Judge of Compensation Claims (JCC).

All references to the Record on Appeal before the District Court will be through the abbreviation (R. ). All emphasis is added unless otherwise indicated. All italicized wording contained in quoted materials is as contained in the quoted materials.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Benefits were claimed by proper form on November 14, 1990. (R. 21–47). A pre-trial stipulation was executed on March 25, 1991. (R. 15–18). Final hearing was held on July 12, 1991. (R. 1–13). The Judge's order was rendered on July 17, 1991. (R. 50–56).

The District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida, (hereinafter referred to as "the DCA"), after considering the briefs of the parties and after holding oral argument, ruled on October 5, 1992, and affirmed the JCC. In the opinion it was stated:

"In Martinez v. Scanlon, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla.1991), the supreme court affirmed a December 1990 trial court ruling that chapter 90–201, Laws of Florida, was unconstitutional because it violated the single subject rule by addressing both workers' compensation and international trade. The supreme court noted that after the trial court's judgment was rendered, the legislature had held a special session in January 1991, had separated the workers' compensation and international trade provisions into two distinct bills, and had reenacted both (chapters 91–1 and 91–5, Laws of Florida), expressly providing that "these two acts would be applied retroactively to July 1, 1990, the original effective date of chapter 90–201." Id. at 1172. The court noted the unusual procedural posture of this case, acknowledged "the legislature's perception of the substantial impact on the entire workers' compensation system if we were to hold chapter 90–201 void ab initio," and explained that it was not ruling on the 1991 act, which was not before it. It then held:

Considering all of these factors, we conclude that we can, and should, hold that <u>the effective date of voiding chapter 90–201</u> is the date of the <u>filing of this opinion</u>. Our decision shall operate prospectively only. Id. at 1176.

The opinion was issued on June 6, 1991.

Were it not for the above-quoted language in Martinez v. Scanlon, we would find that the law which applies to this case is the 1989 version of section 440.15(3)(b). The supreme court has long stated that the substantive rights of the parties are fixed as of the time of injury "because the acceptance of the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation Law by the employer, the employee, and the insurance carrier constitutes a contract between the parties which embraces the provisions of the law as of the time of injury." Sullivan v. Mayo, 121 So.2d 424, 428 (Fla.1960) (emphasis added). The 1990 amendment in effect at the time of the accident was unquestionably unconstitutional. The 1991 amendment was enacted only after the accident occurred, and we would rule the retroactivity provision of the 1991 amendment unconstitutional as violating the constitutional provision against impairment of contracts. Art. I, § 10, Fla. Const. See Hardware Mutual Casualty Co. v. Carlton, 9 So.2d 359 (Fla.1942). See also, L. Ross Inc. v. R.W. Roberts Constr. Co., Inc., 466 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), approved, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla.1986). In principle, we find ourselves in agreement with the dissent in Martinez v. Scanlon:

... When a court declares a statute facially unconstitutional, it means, in plain English, that the enactment has been null and void from the outset. It is a declaration that the legislature acts outside its power when it contravenes the constitutional dictates.

Having decided that the legislative enactment is a facially unconstitutional violation of the single subject rule, the Court has no power to breathe constitutional life into it for the period between its enactment and the Court's declaration of facial invalidity. How can a court require compliance with an act it says the legislature had no authority to enact? Logically, it cannot, judicial fiat notwithstanding.

Id. at 1176.

Were it possible, we would construe the majority's opinion in Martinez v. Scanlon as holding chapter 90-201 unconstitutional and void ab initio, but ruling that any cases which had arisen during the period between its effective date and the date of the opinion, and which had been finally resolved during that period without raising the issue of the act's constitutionality, could not be relitigated. However, the language of the majority and dissenting opinions seems to negate this construction of the majority's holding, which we are constrained to follow.

Therefore, we find that the applicable law in effect at the time of the accident in this case was 440.15(3)(b), Florida Statutes, as amended by chapter 90–201, Laws of Florida, and we AFFIRM the order."

The Court also certified two questions to be of great public importance. These questions were

stated as:

"Whether chapter 90–201, Laws of Florida, would apply to a workers' compensation case in which the accident occurred after the effective date of chapter 90–201 and before the act was declared unconstitutional in Martinez v. Scanlon, and which had not been finally adjudicated during that period?

If chapter 90–201, Laws of Florida, would not apply in such a case, whether chapter 91–1, Laws of Florida, would apply (i.e., whether the retroactivity provision of that act is constitutional)?"

<sup>1</sup> This was what Petitioner advocated in the argument below.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Among the findings contained in the Order of the JCC rendered on July 17, 1991, (R. 54), are the

following:

"(3) <u>Claimant, SANTOS GARCIA, suffered an industrial injury on July 5, 1990.</u> His Average Weekly Wage is \$444.38 and his compensation rate is \$296.40.

(4) Claimant reached a point of Maximum Medical Improvement on November 21, 1990. The parties agree that he is left with a degree of permanent partial impairment but do not agree on the percentage of same. For purposes of this Hearing, it is not necessary that I adjudicate that issue.

(5) Wage loss benefits have been paid since July 12, 1990. Although the claimant has performed a work search, which the carrier has not questioned or otherwise found to be insufficient, he has been unsuccessful in obtaining employment.

(6) Despite the fact that claimant has been paid no wages, salary or remuneration, the carrier has not paid him his wage loss benefits at his compensation rate of \$296.40 per week. Instead they have applied the newly amended F.S. 440.15(3)(b) and paid claimant \$284.40. This difference is due to the fact that 440.15(30(b), as amended in 1990, changed the formula for calculating wage loss benefits from 95% of the difference between 85% of the Average Weekly Wage and any salary, etc., earned Post-MMI to 80% of the difference between 80% of the Average Weekly Wage and post MMI earnings. This difference would be even more significant (\$358.83 under old statute and \$284.40 under new) but for the fact that both statutes limit the wage loss payments to 66 2/3 of the Average Weekly Wage. The old 95/85 formula, when applied to zero earnings, always resulted in an amount higher than 66 2/3 of the Average Weekly Wage, hence the automatic payout of the full compensation rate. Not so on the 80/80 formula.

(7) Claimant's counsel questions the logic of a statute which cuts claimants benefits based upon no change other than a medical opinion of MMI. A claimant who is conducting a good faith work search while temporarily partially disabled will receive payments at his full compensation rate. Suddenly, once the treating physician issues an MMI report, he does the same, unsuccessful work search, and receives less in compensation. Counsel also argued that when claimants earn nothing, there is no salary, wages, etc., so the Statute is inapplicable.

(8) It was the Carrier's position that 440.15(3)(b) was amended in 1990 in order to accomplish two legislative goals;

(1) To motivate claimants to return to gainful employment as soon after MMI as possible.

(2) To reduce the costs of Compensation benefits for carriers and employers. (R. 52)

(9) I find that it is not within my authority or jurisdiction to comment on the appropriateness of the legislature's motives, the merits of the laws or the fairness of these laws as applied to individual claimants. I can only consider the statute as printed and apply it to the facts of a case. It would seem that the carrier is correct in applying the new 80/80 formula to claimant's requests for wage loss, even though there are no wages, salary or other remunderations to actually be subtracted from 80% of the Average Weekly Wage. The new statute does not, nor did the old, provide an alternative mechanism in cases where earnings were zero. I can not create one, no matter what my intentions may be in doing so. THEREFORE, it is ORDERED as follows:

- (a) The claim for wage loss benefits from 07/19/90 is DENIED.
- (b) Each party is to bear the expense of its own fees and costs." (R. 51-53)

Claimant's wage loss forms covering the period of time from July 19, 1990, through June 14, 1991, were put into evidence. (R. 4). In the pretrial stipulation (R. 15-18), it was stipulated that wage loss benefits had been paid from November 22, 1990, through the date of that document. There were no allegations of inadequate job search or of any other defense other than the specific application of the 1991 statute to this July 5, 1990, accident case.

The facts as stated by the DCA are as follows:

"The facts are not in dispute, only the application of section 440.15(3)(b), Florida Statutes, as amended on July 1, 1990. The claimant was injured on July 5, 1990, and reached maximum medical improvement (MMI) on November 21, 1990 with a permanent impairment, the degree of which is irrelevant to this appeal. He has performed an unsuccessful work search, the adequacy of which is not challenged by the carrier. The average weekly wage (AWW) is \$444.38 and the compensation rate (CR) is \$296.40 (66 2/3 % of the AWW).

The problem arises from the fact that the carrier calculated the wage loss benefits at \$284.40, using the recently amended section 440.15(3)(b) which changed the formula, from 95% of the difference between 85% of the AWW and any post-MMI earnings, to 80% of the difference between 80% of the AWW and post-MMI earnings. The judge of compensation claims noted that both versions of the statute limit wage loss payments to 66 2/3 % of the AWW, and that: "The old 95/85 formula, when applied to zero earnings, always resulted in an amount higher than 66 2/3 of the Average Weekly Wage, hence the automatic payout of the full compensation rate. Not so on the 80/80 formula." At the hearing on the claim, the claimant's attorney questioned the logic of cutting benefits for a claimant who is performing a good faith but unsuccessful work search, when the only change is that MMI has been reached. The carrier argued that the amendment is intended to motivate claimants to return to gainful employment as soon after MMI as possible, and to reduce the costs of compensation benefits for carriers and employers.

The judge approved application of the amended statute, stating that "it is not within my authority or jurisdiction to comment on the appropriateness of the legislature's motives, the merits of the laws, or the fairness of those laws as applied to individual claimants" and that since the statute does not create an alternative mechanism in cases where earnings were zero, "I cannot create one, no matter what my intentions may be in doing so.""

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Claimant/Petitioner shows that the "prospective only" edict of this Court was incorrectly construed to have the 1990 statute apply to this case (and, thus all cases) which occurred in the "window" period between July 1, 1990, and January 25, 1991, when the 1991 Act was signed into law, irrespective of the date that the case was tried or the constitutional arguments raised. The present case was tried after the opinion in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla.1991), was announced, June 6, 1991. This case was tried before the Judge of Compensation Claims in July, 1991. Also, the 1991, Act of the Florida

Legislature can not and should not have application to this July 5, 1990, accident on grounds that such an application violates constitutional safeguards of due process, of non-impairment of obligations of contract and violates the ex post facto provision of the state constitution.

In Point II, in the alternative, Claimant/Petitioner shows that the Judge erred in applying a wage loss formula yielding benefits less than 66 2/3% of Claimant's average weekly wage where Claimant was at less than the maximum compensation rate.

It is urged by Petitioner that both certified questions be answered in the negative and that neither the 1990 nor the 1991 Acts be applied to this case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### <u>POINT I</u>

## THE APPLICATION OF THE 1990 OR 1991 AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 440, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THIS JULY 5, 1990, ACCIDENT VIOLATES CONSTITUTIONAL MANDATES

In Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla.1991), this Court ruled that the 1990 Act which made

major changes to Chapter 440, Florida Statutes, was unconstitutional. The Court stated:

"We agree with the trial court that chapter 90–201 violates the single subject requirement and is unconstitutional. Chapter 90–201 essentially consists of two separate subjects, i.e., workers' compensation and international trade. While Martinez contends that these subjects are logically related to the topic of comprehensive economic development, we can find only a tangential relationship at best to exist. We recognize that legislative acts are presumed constitutional and that courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of constitutionality. See State v. Kinner, 398 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 1981); Hanson v. State, 56 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1952). Moreover, we have held that, despite the disparate subjects contained within a comprehensive act, the act did not violate the single subject requirement because the subjects were reasonably related to the crisis the legislature intended to address. Burch v. State, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990) (1987 Crime Prevention and Control Act); Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987) (1986 Tort Reform and Insurance Act). In the instant case, however, the subjects of workers' compensation and international trade are simply too dissimilar and lack the necessary logical and rational relationship to the legislature's stated purpose of comprehensive economic development to pass constitutional muster. See Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1984).

Our inquiry as to this issue, however, does not end at this point. After the trial court rendered its declaratory judgment in December 1990, the legislature convened a special session in January 1991 specifically to address problems with the workers' compensation amendments of chapter 90–201. In this special session, the legislature separated the international trade and workers' compensation provisions into two distinct bills and reenacted both into law. Chs. 91–1, 91–5, Laws of Fla. The legislature also expressly provided that these two acts would be applied retroactively to July 1, 1990, the original effective date of chapter 90–201.

The 1991 act is not properly before this Court, and we are unable to make a binding ruling on its effect. Nevertheless, if a court were to find that the 1991 act could not be constitutionally applied because of the reenacted provisions, the question of the constitutionality of chapter 90–201 would still remain.

Considering all of these factors, we conclude that we can, and should, hold that the

<u>effective date of voiding chapter 90–201 is the date of the filing of this opinion<sup>2</sup></u>. Our decision shall operate prospectively only.

# Because of the unusual procedural posture of this proceeding, we advise that our ruling does not preclude any party with a specific controversy from raising any constitutional issue as applied to that party." 582 So.2d at 1172–1176

The "prospective only" ruling was effective as of June 6, 1991. See 582 So.2d at 1167. This case was tried on July 12, 1991, after the cut off date. The application of the 1990 Act to this case under these facts is clearly error, even under <u>Scanlan</u>. The 1990 statute was invalid on its date of passage. It was only the date of implementation of the effects of that ruling that was delayed. To do otherwise would put this Court into the position of being able to "forgive" an unconstitutional act of the Florida Legislature, a situation which would place this Court in a position superior to the Legislature, illogical in our system of three separate but equal branches, Article II, Section 3, Constitution of the State of Florida<sup>3</sup>, as well as being outside this Court's constitutional jurisdiction<sup>4</sup>.

In State ex rel. Nuveen v. Greer, 88 Fla. 249, 102 So. 739 (Fla.1924), this Court stated:

"Where, in adjudicating litigated rights under a statute, it appears beyond all reasonable doubt that the statute is in conflict with some express or implied provision of the Constitution, it is then within the power and duty of the court, in order to give effect to the controlling law, to adjudicate the existence of the conflict between the statute and the organic law, whereupon the Constitution, by its own superior force and authority, eliminates the statute or the portion thereof that conflicts with organic law, and renders it inoperative ab initio, so that the Constitution and not the statute will be applied by the court in determining the litigated rights. The courts alone are by the organic law empowered to authoritatively declare or to adjudge a statute to be in accord with or in conflict with the Constitution, so that the statute, if valid, stands, or, if contrary to organic law, will by the operation of the Constitution be rendered invalid from its

<sup>4</sup> The Legislature's and Executive's interpretation of this constitutional provision is shown by statute. Section 20.02, Florida Statutes, provides:

"20.02. Declaration of policy

(1) The state constitution contemplates the separation of powers within state government among the legislative, executive, and judicial branches of the government. The legislative branch has the broad purpose of determining policies and programs and reviewing program performance. The executive branch has the purpose of executing the programs and policies adopted by the legislature and of making policy recommendations to the legislature. The judicial branch has the purpose of determining the constitutional propriety of the policies and programs and of adjudicating any conflicts arising from the interpretation or application of the laws."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The DCA's opinion leaves the question of what significance, if any, an "effective date" has if all accidents occurring between July 1, 1990, and January 25, 1991, (hereinafter referred to as the "window" period) are all controlled by the 1990 Act, irrespective of the time that litigation occurs. Under that interpretation, <u>Scanlan</u> would be, essentially, an advisory opinion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein."

**<u>enactment</u>**. 12 C. J. 800. The opinions of officials and of attorneys and others that a statute is valid may be persuasive in a judicial determination of the matter, but such opinions, and acts done pursuant to such opinions, do not affect the power and duty of the court to adjudge a statute to be in conflict with organic provisions, when in the judgment of the court there is such conflict; nor do such opinions and acts affect the operation of the dominant force of the Constitution in rendering the statute inoperative ab initio, to the extent that it conflicts with the superior law as judicially determined.

If a legislative enactment conflicts with an existing provision of the Constitution, such enactment does not become a law. The intent of a Constitution may be shown by the implications as well as by the words of express provisions." 102 So. at 258–259

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