047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,679

FILED

SID J. WHITE

1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

SANTOS M. GARCIA,

Petitioner,

VS.

CARMAL STRUCTURAL, INC. and FEISCO,

Respondents

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ARTURO BORBOLLA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 767417 MILLER, KAGAN & CHAIT, P.A. Counsel for Respondents 75 Valencia Avenue Suite 800 Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 446-5228

MILLER, KAGAN AND CHAIT PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION ATTORNEYS AT LAW

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The application of Florida Statutes, section 440.15(3)(b), as amended in 1990 and re-enacted in 1991, to this July 5th, 1990 accident, does not violate Petitioner's constitutional rights as set forth in the Florida Constitution or the Constitution of the United States. The argument that the application of the 1990 amendments and the 1991 re-enactment of section 440.15(3)(b) affects the Petitioner's right against infringement of contract is without merit. At the time of Petitioner's injury, the 1990 act was in effect. Any right of the Petitioner vis-a-vis the workers' compensation insurance policy (contract) vested at the time and any contractual substantive rights are dictated by the 1990 Act.

The decision by the Florida Supreme Court in Martinez v. Scanlan did not hold the 1990 amendments to Chapter 440 unconstitutional retroactively. That is, the Court did not hold the Act unconstitutional and void ab initio. The Court held the voiding of 1990 amendment to be prospective only, as of June 6th, 1991. Since this Petitioner's injury occurred on July 5th, 1990, the 1990 amendments were still in effect at the time. Petitioner's rights vested at the time of the injury and those rights are identical to the rights in effect in the 1991 re-enactment. There is no basis for any finding of a constitutional violation.

Even if this Court were to find the Petitioner's substantive rights were affected by the retroactive application of the 1991 re-enactment, the Order of the Judge of Compensation Claims must still be affirmed. The Legislature is authorized to retroactively apply curative measures as embodied in the re-

enactment provisions of 1991 affecting Chapter 440. Martinez v. Scanlan specifically held that the 1990 amendments were unconstitutional not because the Legislature lacked the power to enact it, but because of the form of its enactment. The Florida Legislature has the authority to cure, confirm, and validate any provision it had the power to enact in the first place.

The Petitioner is not entitled to full compensation for wage loss under section 440.15(3)(b) where he earns no wages for any time period. The clear language of section 440.15(3)(b) does not provide for a separate formula in calculating wage loss where a claimant earns no money. Any attempt by the Petitioner to presume what the Legislature intended is without merit. The statute itself does not provide for alternative provisions when the claimant earns no wages. Any remaining language setting the maximum exposure at 66-2/3 percent is merely a remaining vestige of the old law which was inadvertently maintained by the Legislature. From this we cannot presume the Legislature meant anything different from what is set forth in the statute.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 90-201, LAWS OF FLORIDA, TO THIS JULY 5TH, 1990 ACCIDENT, DOES NOT VIOLATE PETITIONER'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AS SET FORTH IN THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION OR IN THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

a. Introduction:

Chapter 90-201, Laws of Florida (the Comprehensive Development Act of 1990), was enacted by the Legislature and became effective on July 1st, 1990. On December 5th, 1990, the Second Circuit Court in **Scanlan v. Martinez**, Case No. 90-3137 (Fla. 2nd Cir. Ct. December 5th, 1990) held that chapter 90-201 was unconstitutional. The case then went to the First District Court of Appeal. On appeal, the First District certified the case to the Supreme Court as being of great public importance and requiring immediate resolution. The Supreme Court accepted jurisdiction under Article IV, section 3(b)(5), Florida Constitution.

Between the enactment of chapter 90-201 and the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991), the Florida Legislature convened in a declared special session in January of 1991 to address the problems with the workers' compensation amendments as embodied in chapter 90-201, Laws of Florida. In that session, the Legislature separated the international trade and workers' compensation provisions embodied in chapter 90-201 into two distinct and separate bills and re-enacted both laws. Chs. 90-1, 90-5,

Laws of Florida. The Legislature expressly provided these two acts would be applied retroactively to July 1st, 1990, the original effective date of chapter 90-201.1

On June 6th, 1991, this Honorable Court filed the opinion of Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991). This Court held that chapter 90-201 was unconstitutional because it violated the single subject requirement. This Court, in its decision, correctly recognized that the unconstitutionality was not because the Legislature lacked the power to enact chapter 90-201, but because of the form of its enactment, to wit: the single subject violation. This Court's ruling of unconstitutionality and the effective date of voiding chapters 90-201 is the date of the filing of the opinion (June 6th, 1991). This Court specifically held the decision to apply prospectively only from the date of the filing of the opinion. Id., at 1176.

b. The application of the 1990 or 1991 amendments to 440.15(3)(b) to this case does not violate any constitutional mandates

Petitioner's argument at the DCA level and before this Court is that application of the 1990 or 1991 amendments to section 440.15(3)(b), Florida Statutes, to this July 5th, 1990 accident violates constitutional mandates as embodied in the Florida Constitution and the Constitution of the United States of

¹The Legislature also noted that in the event such retroactive application is held by a Court of law to be unconstitutional, the act shall apply prospectively from the date the Act becomes law. Section 54, chapter 90-1, Laws of Florida.

America.² The Petitioner relied on <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, <u>supra</u>, to support the position that the 1990 Act cannot apply to this case and that the 1989 law must be applied. Respondents disagree with Petitioner's interpretation of this Court's opinion in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The Petitioner's posit that because the claimant's case was adjudicated after the <u>Scanlan</u> decision, <u>supra</u>, to wit: July 12th, 1991, the law which must be applied is the 1989 law. The Respondents would argue that in accordance with the <u>Scanlan</u> decision, <u>supra</u>, the 1990 amendment to 440.15(3)(b) controls the rights of the Petitioner vis-a-vis his "contractual relationship" with the employer and the carrier in this case. It is undisputed that the date of a claimant's injury defines the applicable law. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Sullivan v. Mayo</u>, 121 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1960). Here the 1990 amendments were in effect and must control.

The Petitioner is requesting that this Court define the "prospective only" holding to mean something different than its plain meaning. Petitioner cites to cases such as Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966) and State v. Barquet, 262 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1972) to support its position that the prospective only language should be given a different meaning. Both these cases dealt with penal statutes and criminal law. In essence, the Petitioner would request that this Court define its prospective only language to mean that the voiding of chapter 90-201 occurred after June 6th, 1991 and any cases not tried which fall within this

²Section 440.15(3)(b) is the only provision at issue in this case. The Amicus Brief and Petitioner's Brief attempts to include all of chapter 440 in its appeal. The Petitioner and the Amicus have no standing to raise other provisions not at issue at the JCC level or at the DCA level.

supposed "window" are to be controlled by the 1989 law. The Respondents disagree. The Petitioner is in essence requesting a re-argument or re-hearing of the decision in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u> decision. The <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u> decision is the controlling law in this case and mandates that the 1990 amendments apply to this date of accident.

It is the Respondents' position that based on <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>, 582 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 1991), the 1990 amendments to the Workers' Compensation Act apply to this date of accident. This Court was specific in the <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u> decision and set forth the following language in its holding:

Considering all factors, we conclude that we can, and should, hold the effective date of voiding chapter 90-201 as the date of the filing of this opinion (June 6th, 1991). Our decision shall operate prospectively only. Scanlan, id, at 1176 (emphasis added)

This Court recognized that there would be significant hardships imposed on individuals if the decision would have been given retroactive effect. Based on this, it is clear the decision in <u>Martinez</u> rendered by this Court is to be applied only after June 6th, 1991. Since the claimant's accident occurred on July 5, 1990, we need not revert to the 1989 law.

The Petitioner argues in the Initial Brief that this Court lacks the power to issue a prospective only ruling and, in essence, give validity to the 1990 amendments for a period between July 1st, 1990 and the re-enactment curative statute in 1991. This Court in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u> addressed the issue of the effective date of the ruling. Prior to engaging in the analysis, this Court noted that

penal statutes declared unconstitutional are inoperative from the time of its enactment, not only and simply from the time of the Court's decision. **Martinez** at 1174 (citing **Russo v. State**, 270 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972). The Court further stated the following:

In determining whether a statute is void ab initio, however, this Court seemingly has distinguished between the constitutional authority, or power, for the enactment as opposed to the form of the enactment. McCormick v. Bounetheau, 139 Fla. 461, 190 So. 882 (1939). Here we are declaring chapter 90-201 unconstitutional not because the Legislature lacked the power to enact it, but because of the form of its enactment (emphasis added). Id., at 1174.

The Court's distinguishing between criminal and civil cases is historically correct both for the Florida Supreme Court as noted by <u>Martinez</u>, <u>supra</u>, and by the Supreme Court of the United States of America. In <u>American Trucking</u>

<u>Association Incorporated v. Smith</u>, 110 S.Ct. 2323 1990), the Supreme Court addressed the retroactive application of their decisional law in the criminal sphere versus the civil sphere. The Court noted:

In proposing that we extend the retroactivity doctrine recently adopted in the criminal sphere to our civil cases, the dissent assumes the Court reasons for adopting a per se rule of retroactivity in Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314, 107 S.Ct. 708, 93 L.Ed. 2d 649 (1987), are equally applicable in the civil context. But there are important distinctions between the retroactive application of civil and criminal decisions that make the Griffith rationale far less compelling in the civil sphere.

In adopting the per se rule of retroactivity for criminal cases, Griffith relied on what, in essence,

was a single justification: That it was unfair to apply different rules of criminal procedure to two defendants whose cases were pending on direct review at the same time. See Id., at 322, 323, 107 S.Ct. at 713. In expounding this theory, the Court did not explain why the pendency of a defendant's case on direct review was the critical factor for determining the applicability of the decisions. It is at least arguable, as Justice White pointed out in the dissent, that the speed in which cases proceed through the criminal justice system should not be the key factor for determining whether 'otherwise identical situated defendants may be subjected to different constitutional rules.' Id., at 331, 107 S.Ct. at 718 (WHITE, J. dissenting)

American Trucking Association v. Smith, 110 S.Ct. at 2341.

The Court in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u> also noted that penal statutes declared unconstitutional are inoperative from the time of their enactment. <u>Martinez</u>, 582 So. 2d at 1174. Therefore, the argument set forth by the Petitioner that cases applying <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966) should be used to further his argument that the amendments of chapter 90-201 should be held void ab initio logically fails. This Court was aware of the situation it faced in <u>Martinez</u>, <u>supra</u>, and followed precedent both from its own decisional law and the decisional law of the United States Supreme Court. The dissent by Justice Barkett on this issue is exactly what the Petitioner seeks in this appeal.

There is sufficient authority to support this Court's prospective only ruling in <u>Martinez v. Scanlan</u>. For example, in <u>Gulesian v. Dade County School</u> <u>Board</u>, 281 So. 2d 325 (Fla. 1973), the Court upheld a finding of unconstitutionality of a statute purporting to authorize school districts to levy ad valorem taxes in

excess of 10 mills without a vote of the electorate. The Court, however, affirmed the trial judge's holding that this ruling would apply prospective only. The Court agreed with the reasoning of the trial judge and found that retroactive application of the ruling would require refunds from the school board which would result in great hardship. The Court weighed the interest of the individual taxpayers as compared to the needs of the school children of the county. Equitable considerations were given great weight. **Id**, at 327.

In ITT Community Development Corporation v. Seay, 347 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1977), a Florida statute providing the method for determining just valuation for tax purposes was held to be unconstitutional. The Court, however, held that the decision would be prospective only and would not affect any valuation previously determined pursuant to the statute. See also Interlachen Lakes Estates Incorporated v. Snyder, 304 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 1973) (statute authorizing platted land unsold as lots to be valued for tax assessment purposes on the same basis as unplatted acreage of similar character until 60% of such land had been sold is held to be unconstitutional; however, decision was held to apply prospective only from the date of the opinion because persons had relied on the statute, assuming it to be valid)

In the case <u>Aldana v. Holub</u>, 381 So. 2d 231 (Fla. 1980), this Court struck down Florida's Medical Medication Act as unconstitutional in its entirety based on violations of due process. This Court, in deciding whether to apply the case retroactive or prospective only chose to apply the unconstitutionality ruling prospective only.

Decisions from the United States Supreme Court have also supported the decision in Martinez v. Scanlan holding the voiding of chapter 90-201 to be prospective only. In Cipriano v. City of Houma, 395 U.S. 701, 80 S.Ct. 1897, 23 L.Ed. 2d 647 (1969), the Court struck down as unconstitutional a statute in the State of Louisiana which allowed only property tax payers the right to vote in elections approving the issuance of revenue bonds by utility companies. Again, the decision was to apply prospective only. The United States Supreme Court noted the hardships that would be imposed on cities, bond holders, and others connected with municipal utilities if the decision were given full retroactive effect. The Court went on to note that if a decision from the United States Supreme Court produces substantial inequitable results, if retroactive application is given, there exists ample authority for avoiding the injustice or hardship by holding nonretroactivity. Id., at 706, 89 S.Ct. at 1900. This decision by the United States Supreme Court is by far not the only decision which has allowed prospective only applications. The decision of Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d at 1175 sets forth the United States Supreme Court authorities supporting its position.3

The Petitioner argues that the contract between the employee, the employer, and the carrier would be infringed upon by application of the 1990 amendments. This position is inconsistent with this Court's decision in **Martinez**v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167. The law is well established that the contract

³This Court in <u>Martinez</u>, <u>supra</u>, did not hold section 440.15 unconstitutional. The unconstitutionality applied only to the form of the enactment. This is a significant distinction.

between the parties in a workers' compensation case embraces the provisions of the statutes as they exist at the time of the injury. Hardware Mutual Casualty Co. v. Carlton, 9 So. 2d 250 (Fla. 1942); Fidelity and Casualty Company of New York v. Bedingfield, 60 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1952); Fink v. Fink, 64 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 1953).4

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